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          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Good

          3  afternoon, and welcome to today's hearing by the

          4  Committee on Economic Development. My name is Jerome

          5  X. O'Donovan, and I chair the City Council's

          6  Economic Development Committee, and I want to

          7  introduce the members of the Committee today. We

          8  have with us Una Clarke from Brooklyn, my colleague

          9  from Staten Island, Council Member Stephen Fiala.

         10                 Today we will be conducting a hearing

         11  on Intro. No. 862, submitted by request of the

         12  Mayor, and co-sponsored by myself and Council Member

         13  Abel.

         14                 This bill seeks to amend the

         15  Industrial and Commercial Incentive Program (ICIP)

         16  to make it consistent with State law passed last

         17  year as part of the outerborough development plan

         18  supported by the Mayor and the City Council.

         19                 The ICIP program was developed in

         20  1984 through Local Law 71, and has been amended

         21  several times, most recently in 1995 and 1999 by

         22  this Committee, to attract and retain businesses in

         23  New York City who might otherwise relocate elsewhere

         24  and to encourage the development of real property in

         25  areas that need economic development by creating a
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          2  tax incentive program to accomplish these goals.

          3                 The program provides for exemption

          4  from or deferral of taxation on eligible industrial

          5  or commercial buildings constructed, modernized,

          6  rehabilitated, expanded or otherwise improved

          7  physically.

          8                 Benefits under the ICIP program are

          9  granted as of right to all applicants whose projects

         10  qualify under the law.

         11                 The program is administrated by the

         12  New York City Department of Finance, which is

         13  required to report to the Council on April 1st of

         14  each year on the status of the program.

         15                 According to the last report by the

         16  Department of Finance to the Council for Fiscal Year

         17  1997, there were approximately 2,500 projects either

         18  receiving or eligible for exemption from real estate

         19  taxes, including 2,078 projects receiving exemption

         20  valued at $91.2 million, and 385 that were eligible.

         21                 The Department of Finance report

         22  indicate that 92 percent, or 1,921 of the projects

         23  receiving ICIP benefits were located outside of

         24  Manhattan, 60 percent in Queens and Brooklyn, 33

         25  percent in Staten Island and the Bronx, with an
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          2  estimated exemption value of $66.2 million.

          3                 The report further indicates that 86

          4  percent of the projects were used for commercial

          5  purposes and 14 percent for industrial purposes with

          6  84 percent with construction costs of less than $1

          7  million. That's small business, and that's good.

          8                 This bill seeks to amend certain

          9  provisions of ICIP, including the creation of a

         10  commercial revitalization area north of 96th Street

         11  and in the outerboroughs. The State Senate and the

         12  Assembly passed the bill S.8219, which was signed by

         13  the Governor on August 16th, 2000.

         14                 Local Law 862 mirrors in amending

         15  certain ICIP provisions.

         16                 Today we will hear from the

         17  Administration on the effectiveness of ICIP, and the

         18  need to amend its provisions.

         19                 In addition, we will hear from

         20  several witnesses about ICIP to determine if in the

         21  future we need to amend this legislation even

         22  further.

         23                 At this time I would like to

         24  recognize any member of the community who would like

         25  to comment for the record, and next I would like to
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          2  call our first witness.

          3                 From the Department of Finance, Mr.

          4  Israel Schupper and Glenn Borin. Gentlemen, welcome.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BORIN: Good

          6  afternoon. Thank you. I am Deputy Commissioner Glen

          7  Borin of the Department of Finance, speaking today

          8  on behalf of Finance Commissioner Andrew Eristoff.

          9  Joining me today are John Fair, and Supratim Bhaumik

         10  from the New York City Economic Development

         11  Corporation, and my colleagues from the Department

         12  of Finance, Associate Commissioner Israel Schupper,

         13  Warren Hyman and Fran Joseph, and Jacob Goodman.

         14                 I will, if you indulge me, read parts

         15  of the testimony that I have provided copies to your

         16  counsel, and, of course, any of us would be glad to

         17  answer any of your questions that the Committee may

         18  have about this legislation or about the ICIP

         19  program.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         22  speak in support of legislation which will put into

         23  effect an important package of economic development

         24  incentives for the City's commercial expansion

         25  areas.
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          2                 This package, which involves the

          3  combination of tax exemptions, abatements and

          4  relocation assistance will be a major tool for the

          5  adaptive reuse of obsolete buildings and provides

          6  incentives for retention and expansion of industrial

          7  jobs.

          8                 Property owners in New York City

          9  compete for commercial industrial tenants with

         10  owners in other parts of the metropolitan region and

         11  beyond, where often the general property tax level

         12  on commercial property is much lower than the City's

         13  4.4 percent effective rate.

         14                 Moreover, in many locations, the tax

         15  rate applicable to new projects is further reduced

         16  by generous relocation and retention incentives.

         17                 The economic development programs

         18  that I'll describe here are the main means by which

         19  the City could level the playing field and compete

         20  for commercial and industrial projects that are the

         21  key to jobs for City residents and continuing

         22  economic growth.

         23                 As part of the Fiscal Year 2001

         24  budget, the Mayor proposed and the Council adopted a

         25  package of enhancements of three of the City's
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          2  principle as of right economic development programs.

          3                 State Legislature approved these

          4  changes in Chapter 261 of the laws of 2000, which

          5  was effective on August 16th, 2000.

          6                 Enhancements of two of the programs

          7  covered by that bill became effective upon passage

          8  of the State Law. The proposed local law before your

          9  Committee, Intro. No. 862, is the local option

         10  legislation necessary to put into effect the changes

         11  to the third, which is ICIP, the industrial and

         12  commercial incentive program.

         13                 However, for reasons that I'll

         14  explain, the adoption of this local law is the key

         15  to implementation of the entire package, and its

         16  strategy for spurring further economic gains

         17  throughout the City.

         18                 This proposed local law amends two

         19  provisions of ICIP, which has been a mainstay of the

         20  City's economic development and real estate tax

         21  policy since 1984.

         22                 The amendments applied to projects in

         23  the commercial expansion area, which is defined as

         24  any area zoned C4, C5, C6, M1, M2 or M3 in the

         25  Bronx, Brooklyn, Queens, Staten Island, and
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          2  Manhattan North of 96th Street.

          3                 Within these areas the local law

          4  removes restrictions on ICIP eligibility based on

          5  the former use of the property which is undergoing

          6  renovation or redevelopment.

          7                 Further, the availability of the tax

          8  abatement for industrial projects in this area is

          9  expanded substantially.

         10                 In the absence of ICIP, increases in

         11  value that result from physical improvements would

         12  produce immediate increases in tax liability, at the

         13  City's relatively high effective tax rate, and such

         14  increases are not phased in by means of transitions

         15  assessments.

         16                 Thus, an owner of a commercial

         17  property contemplating construction of a new

         18  building, renovation or work to accommodate a new

         19  tenant must be confident that the additional rental

         20  income will pay for this immediate increase in

         21  property tax expense and still yield a sufficient

         22  return on the cost of construction.

         23                 The City's main counterbalance to

         24  these economic forces is the as-of-right ICIP

         25  property tax exemption.
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          2                 For eligible projects, ICIP

          3  eliminates the immediate increase in taxes that

          4  would otherwise result from construction or

          5  renovation work.

          6                 The ICIP law allows the most

          7  extensive exemption benefits for commercial projects

          8  in areas of the City that have been designated as

          9  special areas, because of indications of economic

         10  distress, and for industrial projects in any

         11  location.

         12                 In these instances, the increase in

         13  value produces no tax increase for the first 16

         14  years, and a moderated increase in year 17 through

         15  25.

         16                 During this period, the project is

         17  shielded from the increase in value that results

         18  directly from the construction work.

         19                 Additionally, the project is exempt

         20  from indirect increases that result from the action

         21  of economic forces on the new or renovated property

         22  for the first 13 years.

         23                 In all other areas of the City and do

         24  not qualify, special areas outside of Manhattan, and

         25  north of 96th Street, commercial projects receive
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          2  exemption benefits on the value added directly by

          3  construction or renovation work for a total of 15

          4  years.

          5                 1995, as part of a package of

          6  economic development initiatives, industrial

          7  projects became eligible for an abatement in

          8  addition to the exemption benefit. This abatement

          9  reduces the taxes on the project site, initially by

         10  half, from what they were before the project began.

         11  It thereby creates a strong incentive for investment

         12  in properties that will meet the manufacturing use

         13  tests, now 75 percent, during the 12-year abatement

         14  period.

         15                 Prior to the enactment of the

         16  abatement program from 1984 to '97, relatively few

         17  industrial projects applied for ICIP benefits. There

         18  were only 289 industrial projects with a total tax

         19  benefit of 4.7 million as of '97. Since the

         20  enactment of the abatement legislation, and other

         21  enhancements for industrial projects in '95, the

         22  number of industrial projects has grown

         23  substantially. From 1998 to 2001, Finance granted

         24  industrial exemption and abatement benefits to 270

         25  parcels. The abatement benefits alone were more than
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          2  6.7 million in 2001.

          3                 The changes enacted by the State

          4  Legislature last year allow the City to adopt a

          5  local law that would capitalize on the 1995 law

          6  success by substantially expanding the scope of ICIP

          7  in the commercial expansion areas.

          8                 These areas cover most of the

          9  primarily commercial and industrial sections of the

         10  City outside of Manhattan.

         11                 Under the current law, a property

         12  that is a former manufacturing site is ineligible

         13  for ICIP benefits. Unless at least 75 percent of the

         14  property is used for manufacturing after completion

         15  of the construction work.

         16                 The restriction applies to buildings

         17  that have been used to the extent of 15 percent or

         18  more of their floor area during the past two or four

         19  years, depending on the location.

         20                 In practice, the restriction on

         21  former manufacturing sites actually discourages

         22  retention and expansion and manufacturing uses,

         23  especially discourages investment in buildings

         24  suitable for mixed manufacturing and other

         25  commercial use.
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          2                 The amendment will remove this

          3  restriction and allow any property to be immediately

          4  eligible for commercial exemption benefits without

          5  regard to former use.

          6                 The other change affect the

          7  industrial abatement, which is now available only in

          8  buildings that meet the 75 percent manufacturing use

          9  test.

         10                 The local law would allow Finance to

         11  grant a pro rata abatement to projects where there

         12  was between 25 percent and 75 percent manufacturing

         13  use, provided that there is no diminution of the

         14  manufacturing use in place at the time of

         15  application.

         16                 There are many multi-tenant buildings

         17  where manufacturing co-exists with warehousing, back

         18  office and other commercial uses. This amendment

         19  would allow owners and tenants to upgrade these

         20  buildings with the help of the industrial abatement.

         21                 As requested by your Committee's

         22  Counsel, we have supplied you with a report

         23  outlining the impact of ICIP through the current

         24  fiscal year.

         25                 In addition to its immediate impact
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          2  through exemption of the abatement benefits, ICIP

          3  eligibility is the most common means of qualifying

          4  for two other as of right benefits, the Relocation

          5  and Employment Assistance Program, or REAP, and the

          6  Energy Cost Savings Program.

          7                 The same 2000 state law that

          8  authorized the enhancements to ICIP, substantially

          9  expanded the reprogram for businesses relocating to

         10  the commercial expansion areas.

         11                 The annual income tax credit for

         12  employee was increased to $3,000, from 1,500, and

         13  the credit was made refundable in the year of the

         14  relocation and for the succeeding four years when

         15  the business income does not absorb the full amount

         16  of the credit.

         17                 In total the REAP benefit may last up

         18  to 12 years.

         19                 The State legislation also extended

         20  and expanded a further rent abatement benefit for

         21  businesses that expand, relocate or renew leases in

         22  the commercial expansion areas.

         23                 This benefit allows landlords or

         24  tenants who undertake building-wide improvements or

         25  work for a tenants' use to receive real estate tax
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          2  abatements of up to $2.50 per square foot, which

          3  must be used to reduce the eligible, commercial or

          4  industrial tenants' rent.

          5                 In summary, enactment of the proposed

          6  local law will make ICIP available to a larger pool

          7  of properties in the areas of the City suitable for

          8  expansion of industrial and commercial projects, and

          9  will encourage the renovation or redevelopment of

         10  these properties.

         11                 Overall, there will be substantial

         12  incentives to retain or expand manufacturing jobs

         13  wherever economically feasible, while at the same

         14  time allowing the use of the former manufacturing

         15  sites, in full or in part, as facilities for

         16  warehousing offices, telecommunications, and other

         17  commercial ventures.

         18                 The availability of ICIP will make

         19  the full array of relocation, energy and rent

         20  reduction benefits available as incentives to

         21  locate, expand employment in neighborhoods

         22  throughout the five boroughs.

         23                 Finance Commissioner Andrew Eristoff

         24  and EDC President Michael Carey urge your approval

         25  of this proposed local law.
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          2                 We would be pleased to answer your

          3  questions.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: All right,

          5  Commissioner.

          6                 Okay, so we have ICIP in place now,

          7  we've had it for a number of years, this Committee

          8  has approved it, generally we believe that

          9  philosophically we agree that any incentive program

         10  should be here to enhance development, et cetera, et

         11  cetera, in industry in business.

         12                 Now, is this new ICIP generally, this

         13  legislation, is it seeking deeper tax incentives

         14  here, or deeper benefits for businesses?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BORIN: The

         16  primary change would be which buildings qualify for

         17  immediate participation in the program. The first

         18  amendment, which affects the qualifications for

         19  commercial projects would allow certain buildings

         20  that are now disqualified from participation to be

         21  eligible for a renovation usually.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Why would they

         23  be disqualified? Give an example.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BORIN: I'll give

         25  you an example, that might be the best way to do it.
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          2                 If you have a building that was

          3  formerly used to some extent as a factory for

          4  manufacturing, let's say it's a five-story building

          5  and one floor out of five had been used as a factory

          6  two years ago, if the owner of that building, who

          7  how has a vacant floor, or several vacant floors,

          8  wants to do some renovations which will enable him

          9  to get a commercial tenant to move into the

         10  building, let's say a telecommunications firm that

         11  wants some back office space, but in order to move

         12  in they need the building to be upgraded, that owner

         13  cannot use ICIP right now without waiting at least

         14  two years to make the building considered no longer

         15  a manufacturing site. The problem as it was perhaps

         16  perceived in the original legislation was that the

         17  benefits might be used to renovate buildings which

         18  were, say garment manufacturing lofts and turn them

         19  into offices, and that was seen as a problem.

         20                 In reality, after many years have

         21  gone by, what we see more commonly is that buildings

         22  are vacant, underutilized and this is just an

         23  impediment to investors who want to put money into

         24  the building.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Okay.
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          2                 And has any benefits ever been

          3  revoked from anybody receiving ICIP?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BORIN: Yes, we do

          5  do a full enforcement. The Department of Finance

          6  does a full enforcement review every year on every

          7  property that continues to receive benefits. We

          8  require the owner to file an annual statement that

          9  they're still using the property in accordance with

         10  the original application or otherwise consistently

         11  with the law, and we inspect the buildings to

         12  determine if that's in fact the case.

         13                 So, there are the requirements such

         14  as that the buildings comply with the building code

         15  where an owner fails to follow these requirements,

         16  we have revoked benefits, and sometimes we revoke

         17  them and then they get back into compliance and we

         18  restore the benefits. But there have been, I would

         19  say, millions of dollars of revoked benefits over

         20  the history of the program.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Okay.

         22                 This ICIP now, if you are located

         23  within any of the empowerment zones or an outer

         24  borough empire state zone, you're still eligible for

         25  ICIP; is that correct?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BORIN:

          3  Definitely, yes. Those zones are all special areas

          4  which get the highest benefit for both industrial

          5  and commercial ICIP.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Okay. If you

          7  have an area like the downtown plan, downtown

          8  Manhattan, the financial sector, financial services

          9  sector that's seeing great competition from the

         10  Jersey, and Jersey City, can we tailor this ICIP

         11  legislation specifically as an example for an area

         12  like the downtown plan to help them even more? Can

         13  we give deeper cuts for a specific area because they

         14  have specific problems, such as downtown Manhattan,

         15  the financial area, related to competition from New

         16  Jersey? Can we help them out even more? Can we amend

         17  this legislation here?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BORIN: Well, let

         19  me address that as best I can. I may ask the

         20  representatives from EDC to help me out.

         21                 First of all, I think that what's in

         22  the local law is the maximum that we can do under

         23  the state enabling legislation that was passed last

         24  year, so to broaden it would probably mean a trip

         25  back to Albany to accomplish that.
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          2                 As far as the concept of targeting

          3  areas that need sort of a jump start, if I

          4  understand your question correctly, you were talking

          5  about emulating the Lower Manhattan model in other

          6  parts of the City; would that be fair to say?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Well, now that

          8  you have raised that question, what about that?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BORIN: What I

         10  would say is I think that was the concept behind

         11  this legislation that it would focus on certain

         12  areas that already have an industrial or commercial

         13  tone to them, where you know, trying to necessarily

         14  start from scratch in areas that may be more

         15  residential. But within these areas which exist in

         16  all five boroughs, but are concentrated, you know,

         17  particular, usually previously industrial areas, the

         18  concentration of the benefits that are available

         19  from four programs, ICIP, Energy, REAP and the Lease

         20  Abatement, since an owner might be able to avail

         21  themselves of two or three or four of these programs

         22  at once, they could have a substantial inducement to

         23  do some major investment in these areas, and since

         24  the areas are concentrated, it may have a

         25  snowballing effect on other investors.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Okay. But to

          3  change this law now and amend it, I guess it will

          4  have to be a broad-based amendment so everybody

          5  would be included, not just a specific area of the

          6  City, right? And would have to need state enabling

          7  legislation to do it, because this came out of the

          8  state?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BORIN: Yes,

         10  broadening it would require state legislation, and

         11  this is, of course, a Citywide bill, since these

         12  zones exist throughout the City.

         13                 If you look in the brochure that we

         14  gave some, sent up some copies of before the

         15  meeting, on page four and five there's a map that

         16  indicates the locations of these zones. You can see

         17  they cover, although they're fairly concentrated,

         18  they're spread around all over the City.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: All right,

         20  Commissioner, very well.

         21                 Are there any questions?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Councilwoman

         24  Clarke.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Since the ICIP
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          2  is to encourage basically job creation once the

          3  incentives are given, how do we make sure that jobs

          4  have come, that they are maintained and retained,

          5  and that we're getting actually a bang for the buck,

          6  having given the incentive? And who keeps the data,

          7  yourself of the employer?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BORIN: The ICIP

          9  program is essentially a real estate program. Some

         10  of the other programs that can be linked to it,

         11  through eligibility for ICIP, may have more specific

         12  requirements of continuing the employment. I think

         13  that would be true with REAP, but I will defer to

         14  those here who are more expert in the program, that

         15  program.

         16                 A lot of people may get into the REAP

         17  program through qualifying by ICIP eligibility. As

         18  far as ICIP itself, the applicants are required to

         19  report to us how many jobs they expect will be

         20  generated by the renovation or construction project.

         21                 There is no mechanism in the law by

         22  which we can hold them to those estimates. However,

         23  we can hold them to the use of the property, as in

         24  answering the Chairman's questions. If they say

         25  they're going to, for example, renovate a building
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          2  and use it as a goods distribution center, we will

          3  verify that they continue to use it in that manner.

          4  They can't convert it to a residential property, for

          5  example, or something that would not qualify for the

          6  benefits.

          7                 MR. SCHUPPER: Council Member Clarke,

          8  if I just may expound on that, large ICIP projects

          9  are required to file with the Department of Business

         10  Services, and they're filed, they have training

         11  requirements under the law, and the Department of

         12  Business Services follows up with construction

         13  employment reports, and checking to make sure that

         14  the proper job and proper opportunities are present

         15  within these programs.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Okay.

         17                 Then can you, I have looked in the

         18  little book that I have that gives the areas in

         19  which, the expansion areas, do you have to be in,

         20  for want of a better word, and please excuse me,

         21  does it have to be an area where there is blight and

         22  deterioration and where you think if you attract

         23  persons and businesses there, that they will do

         24  better?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BORIN: Let me
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          2  talk about the ICIP program and the commercial

          3  expansion areas separately.

          4                 In ICIP there are, the whole City is

          5  divided up into zones with varying levels of

          6  benefits, and for the most part those zones are

          7  statutory, with one exception.

          8                 In the zones determined in what areas

          9  benefits are available for commercial as opposed to

         10  industrial projects, and the extent of those

         11  benefits.

         12                 The special areas where the deepest

         13  commercial benefits available are, to some extent,

         14  tied to economic distress, there are several

         15  criteria established in the statute, which are used

         16  to measure that distress, inclusion in -- areas that

         17  are in the empowerment zones are, for example,

         18  automatically included in the special areas.

         19                 As far as the areas depicted on this

         20  map, these are commercial expansion areas which are

         21  a smaller subset of the City, as, of course, you can

         22  see, these areas are based strictly on zoning,

         23  except for the exclusion of Manhattan South of 96th

         24  Street. All areas that are zoned by City Planning

         25  Commission and the zoning resolution, in those six
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          2  zoning areas, are defined in this law as commercial

          3  expansion areas. So, what I would say characterizes

          4  them most is that they are areas that have existing

          5  bases of industrial buildings in them.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: If I have a

          7  business, I'm given a full set of benefits, and I

          8  don't follow the rules of the law, who monitors

          9  that, and what are the consequences, the knuckle

         10  kinds of things that the City holds over somebody

         11  whose gotten their incentives and then don't follow

         12  the rules?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BORIN: I'll speak

         14  about ICIP and the other programs have their own

         15  similar sets of rules.

         16                 In ICIP the applicants basically

         17  enters into a contract with the Department of

         18  Finance that they will abide by the rules of the

         19  program throughout the period which they're

         20  receiving benefits, file annual reports with Finance

         21  that detail how they're using the property. As I

         22  said, we inspect the properties. They also certify

         23  that the buildings are in compliance with building

         24  code and they don't have serious safety violations

         25  in the properties.
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          2                 When Finance discovers that a

          3  building is not in compliance, we have the power to

          4  revoke the tax benefits, which is usually a fairly

          5  strong incentive for the owner to get back into

          6  compliance, and I would say that a lot of the

          7  non-compliance that exists is fairly unintentional,

          8  and once their attention is brought to it, many

          9  owners will comply.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Now, how does

         11  this differ from the, let's say the Relocation

         12  Employment Assistant Program and the others, and how

         13  does this complement the others that are in place

         14  once we pass this legislation?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BORIN: I would

         16  say that all four programs, including energy, which

         17  was not amended by this 2000 law, are inter-related

         18  and can be used effectively in combination.

         19                 What most often they have in common

         20  is that the building in which the businesses located

         21  or expanding needs work to make it accommodate some

         22  new business, make it more suitable for that

         23  business. That means often renovation of the

         24  building which will increase its value for tax

         25  purposes, so the ICIP protects it from being, having
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          2  to pay a lot of additional taxes right away when

          3  it's just trying to get started as a location for a

          4  new or expanding business.

          5                 Relocation assistance, which is an

          6  income tax credit for businesses that move jobs from

          7  Manhattan or elsewhere into one of these zones,

          8  these businesses need a place to go, and these are

          9  basically either industrial or office-type

         10  businesses for the most part, retail, doesn't cover

         11  retail or hotel businesses. So, since these

         12  businesses, in order to relocate from Manhattan need

         13  adequate buildings, the ICIP and the Relocation

         14  Assistance Program work together to provide a place

         15  for these businesses to go. Energy, in the case of

         16  industrial, particularly, helps reduce the cost of

         17  energy for businesses that use a lot of energy. The

         18  Commercial Lease Abatement Program is a way that

         19  essentially the landlord can help finance the

         20  improvements that the tenant needs without making

         21  the tenant pay the full cost of those, so that,

         22  again, there is a place for the tenant to move and

         23  expand its business.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Once a

         25  business applies, is there somebody who will give
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          2  Counseling and what the full menu of all of these

          3  would be, and how one complement the other? Or they

          4  just get what they ask for and no more?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BORIN: I'm going

          6  to let EDC talk to that. I'm going to turn you over

          7  to EDC.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I think I am

          9  asking a good question when I see the chairs start

         10  moving.

         11                 MR. FAIR: Hi. John Fair.

         12                 Department of Business Services has a

         13  group within it that has, I think, like the full

         14  complement of benefits, packages that are available

         15  to any applying company.

         16                 If a company comes to EDC, certainly

         17  we do what we can to point them in the right

         18  direction as it relates to DBS and Department of

         19  Finance.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: My question

         21  was a little bit more comprehensive than that. It's

         22  that if a business comes in and you think they are

         23  entitled to ICIP, the relocation and whatever, is

         24  there a central place in which they get, for want of

         25  a better word, counseling, that there is a menu of

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            29

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  benefits that you may have that may even add up to

          3  greater benefits that will allow you to remain here

          4  and retain the jobs here. Who does that?

          5                 MR. FAIR: Recently, Council Member,

          6  the REAP Program, the Relocation Program, was

          7  brought into the same unit that administers the

          8  industrial and commercial incentive program.

          9                 This gives us the ability to counsel

         10  and direct and ensure that our applicants take

         11  advantage of the full scope of the program.

         12                 As a matter of course, in giving ICIP

         13  applications, we also reference the energy cost

         14  savings program, and since its inception in 1995,

         15  the program that offers lease abatements has also

         16  been contained within the same unit that administers

         17  both ICIP and now REAP.

         18                 So, the City does present an easier

         19  one-stop shopping and response to the applicants'

         20  needs.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 MR. FAIR: You're welcome.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Chairman.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Thank you,

          3  Council Member.

          4                 Thank you, gentlemen.

          5                 We have Ernie Smith, Penn and

          6  Fletcher. And Michael Slattery, Real Estate Board of

          7  New York.

          8                 Good afternoon.

          9                 MR. SMITH: Thank you. I am Ernie

         10  Smith, the President of Penn & Fletcher, and a

         11  member of MANYC, the Manufacturers Association of

         12  New York, and I want to thank you for giving me the

         13  opportunity to speak today regarding real estate

         14  property tax exemptions and abatements for

         15  industrial and commercial properties. I am basically

         16  for ICIP and against the reduction in manufacturing

         17  space.

         18                 First let me tell you a little about

         19  our company. Penn & Fletcher is a Long Island City

         20  artisan embroidery shop working for fashion,

         21  theatrical and interior designers. We employ 14 men

         22  and women from very diverse backgrounds who have one

         23  thing in common, all of us share a love of doing

         24  beautiful embroidery, we make things with our hands.

         25                 As a company, we tipify the melting
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          2  pot of New York City manufacturing labor. We are a

          3  human tree with roots from Pakistan, Ireland, Haiti,

          4  Italy, Puerto Rico, the Dominican Republic, Poland,

          5  Germany, England, Central Africa and the four

          6  corners of the United States. We even employ someone

          7  who was born in Queens. We are the mix of the faces

          8  that makes New York City great.

          9                 Today manufacturing in New York City

         10  is facing greater and greater competition from

         11  across the seas and even from just across the river.

         12  NAFTA, the New York City real estate market, and the

         13  City's poorly enforced zoning regulations have

         14  contributed to decimating the sewing trades

         15  industry.

         16                 At this very moment the garment

         17  companies that have recently relocated to Long

         18  Island City, along with other manufacturers there,

         19  are potentially facing another challenge, the impact

         20  of the decisions you are about to make.

         21                 We ask why reward the real estate

         22  market for closing its doors to manufacturers?

         23                 Penn & Fletcher has firsthand

         24  experience with the harshness of the current New

         25  York City real estate market. Our company had been
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          2  an impeccable tenant in the same building on West

          3  30th Street in Manhattan for 15 years. We had the

          4  misfortune of having our lease expire just at the

          5  height of the dot com madness and we were forced to

          6  relocate within just a few months' notice.

          7                 This upset our business and was

          8  caused by our landlord's decision to add T1 lines

          9  and repaint the halls of our 1920's manufacturing

         10  loft building hoping to entice new Internet

         11  companies with "off-beat" space.

         12                 We selected Long Island City and what

         13  we deemed as a manufacturing haven for our new home.

         14  The costs of the move and setting up our new space

         15  were staggering, and almost forced us to close. We

         16  have barely survived the forced move, but will we

         17  survive the challenge of your decision?

         18                 Should we start packing now? Are we

         19  going to be forced to move again?

         20                 In conclusion, small manufacturers

         21  are not gypsies who can just camp anywhere and move

         22  at will. We rely on a uniquely skilled workforce, on

         23  public transportation for our employees, on

         24  buildings with heavy floor loads, on loading docks,

         25  and on accommodating streets for our pick-up and
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          2  delivery trucks. We need to be near other

          3  manufacturers in the chain, to vendors and to the

          4  market itself. Most of all, we need a certain degree

          5  of stability.

          6                 We have adapted to surviving in the

          7  difficult world of New York manufacturing and have

          8  become unique hybrids that would most likely not

          9  survive elsewhere.

         10                 The advantages that New York City has

         11  to offer manufacturers are diminished when you

         12  create an unstable base for our work.

         13                 Encouraging real estate speculation

         14  with tax exemptions and abatements is to swell the

         15  ranks of those who look down on manufacturing. Where

         16  would you have us go?

         17                 While I know this is not a zoning

         18  hearing, I want to interject this thought. Every

         19  time I hear a rezoning proposal that takes a

         20  manufacturing zone and changes it to mixed usage, I

         21  ask myself why are manufacturers being chased away

         22  again?

         23                 I propose that for every

         24  manufacturing zone rezoned as mixed usage, that a

         25  residential zone be rezoned as mixed usage as well.
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          2  And I propose the two propositions are tied together

          3  in a single package, a sort of tit for tat.

          4                 One might think of this as closing a

          5  door but opening a window for manufacturing.

          6                 In the same vein, the tax exemptions

          7  and abatements should not go to those who are

          8  already strong and would force manufacturers out of

          9  Long Island City, but rather there should be greater

         10  incentives to keep manufacturing alive and

         11  protected.

         12                 The health of manufacturing in Long

         13  Island City should be a City priority. The City

         14  needs us, and we manufacturers need the City. Your

         15  decision can either help those of us who are

         16  manufacturers or hurt us.

         17                 Thank you for giving me this

         18  opportunity to speak.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Thank you,

         20  sir.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Do you have a

         22  recommendation how to keep this partnership together

         23  so that manufacturing remain while others -- while

         24  this incentive program go ahead? How would you make

         25  a recommendation?
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          2                 MR. SMITH: I think the thing that

          3  disturbs me the most is the hidden agenda of

          4  rewarding landlords for reducing manufacturing

          5  space, and that we're taken out of it.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: In your

          7  testimony you talked about the places in which your

          8  company in particular have their roots; can you say

          9  what kind of manufacturing businesses are in these

         10  places?

         11                 MR. SMITH: In the building that we're

         12  in?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Yes.

         14                 MR. SMITH: We're in the Dodger

         15  Costume Building. It's all garment.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: And a number

         17  of employees?

         18                 MR. SMITH: Number of employees?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Yes.

         20                 MR. SMITH: I would say total in the

         21  building, under 100. Just under 100.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: But you didn't

         23  come with any recommendation as to how we may modify

         24  this law in order to protect manufacturing, so that

         25  the landlords really don't take advantage --
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          2                 MR. SMITH: I understand the idea is

          3  to change the percentages, so more buildings are

          4  available for conversion to office space. But no new

          5  manufacturing spaces are being opened up, it's only

          6  reducing the number of manufacturing spaces. And you

          7  know, manufacturing is on the run in New York City,

          8  we're hurting.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

         10  Chairman.

         11                 Thank you, sir.

         12                 MR. SMITH: Thank you.

         13                 MR. SLATTERY: Good afternoon,

         14  Chairman, members of the Committee. My name is

         15  Michael Slattery, Senior Vice President at Real

         16  Estate Board of New York, and we're here today to

         17  strongly support the measure before you.

         18                 ICIP has been a valuable investment

         19  tool, and it should be seen as a capital investment

         20  program that encourages investment in underutilized

         21  properties, vacant land, and other areas that need

         22  reinvestment, and it should be looked as a long-term

         23  program, which helps to expand the tax base in the

         24  long run while giving short-term benefits to offset

         25  the high taxes that we find in New York.
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          2                 Also, ICIP has been a benefit

          3  primarily for out-of-borough projects, looking at

          4  1997 by information compiled by the Department,

          5  industrial projects, there were 125 industrial

          6  projects in Brooklyn, 104 in Queens, and only 12 in

          7  Manhattan. Commercial projects during the same

          8  period, there were 539 projects in Queens, 470 in

          9  Brooklyn, and 145 in Manhattan. I think these

         10  numbers demonstrate that ICIP has helped borough

         11  development as well.

         12                 I think the other issue that has been

         13  raised here is the potential impact on

         14  manufacturing, and I think we have to look at this

         15  issue in a large context.

         16                 There is an abundance of

         17  manufacturing rezoned land in the City of New York.

         18  In fact, there's probably been not enough rezoning

         19  and manufacturing areas. In 1961 there were roughly

         20  20,000 acres zoned for manufacturing at a time when

         21  there were over a million manufacturing jobs, that

         22  acreage was intending to accommodate manufacturing

         23  growth, and we've a substantial decline in that

         24  employment population, roughly from a million then

         25  to about a quarter of a million today, and we
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          2  certainly have not seen that kind of rezoning take

          3  place that is commensurate with those kinds of

          4  employment drops.

          5                 Also, manufacturing areas are the

          6  lowest tax areas in the City with the lowest

          7  property taxes, as well as the areas that provide

          8  the deepest tax incentive benefits, and, yet,

          9  despite all these assets, we do not see the kind of

         10  rise or resurgence of manufacturing, and

         11  unfortunately, we don't see any new manufacturing

         12  buildings.

         13                 The gentleman before was correct, it

         14  is unfortunate. But there are factors for that which

         15  have nothing to do with real estate, but rather have

         16  to do with the economics of manufacturing, and the

         17  demand for manufacturing employment, as well as

         18  other factors that go to production and that at one

         19  time were really regional issues that more

         20  manufacturing jobs are moving to the south or to

         21  other parts of the country, in the eighties, in the

         22  nineties, and today we're seeing that manufacturing

         23  production moving outside this country.

         24                 We should find ways to help

         25  manufacturing. We should find ways to do it
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          2  directly, and don't try to create restrictions on

          3  other areas of growth. We should provide incentives

          4  which would in some ways the Administration and this

          5  Council has already done, to eliminate commercial

          6  rent tax in the boroughs and north of 96th Street.

          7  That's lowered cost. To those manufacturers in

          8  Manhattan, maybe those benefits should also be

          9  extended to manufacturers in Manhattan.

         10                 And we should also look to replicate

         11  what the City's done in the Brooklyn Army Terminal,

         12  to actually make capital investment to create

         13  manufacturing space to house these manufacturing

         14  firms.

         15                 There is much that can be done. We

         16  suggest that it should be done, but it should be

         17  done directly, and we shouldn't be encouraging

         18  programs that restrict or prevent growth, and that's

         19  what a number of the provisions that are being

         20  changed here today had done. They really restricted

         21  commercial development to the boroughs and areas

         22  which were growing.

         23                 Service economy in the last 25 years

         24  has gone from 770,000 to 1.4 million, 100 percent

         25  growth. The fire sector has increased by 70,000
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          2  jobs, a 20 percent growth in that period of time.

          3  There has been an increasing need for commercial

          4  space, and we should be encouraging that.

          5                 We should also be encouraging that

          6  commercial space development into the boroughs, and

          7  this program is attempting to both do that, as well

          8  as take away the restrictions in terms of delay in

          9  benefits, and trying to encourage mixed use

         10  development, as the economics of new development

         11  have not materialized for manufacturers, and this

         12  program, by lowering the threshold from 75 to 25, is

         13  attempting to encourage that kind of activity. Maybe

         14  there should be more that should be done to

         15  encourage that, but this program also doesn't

         16  encourage the displacement of manufacturing firms.

         17                 So, I think we are taking an

         18  important stop to encourage growth in the boroughs,

         19  satisfy need for commercial space, protecting as

         20  best we can the manufacturers that are there, and to

         21  the extent that we need to do more we should find

         22  ways for the public sector to do more, to do more

         23  directly.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 Jonathan Bowles, Center for Urban

          4  Future, and Anne Adair, New York Industrial

          5  Retention.

          6                 MR. BOWLES: Good afternoon.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Good

          8  afternoon.

          9                 MR. BOWLES: Thank you very much for

         10  inviting me to speak at today's hearing.

         11                 My name is Jonathan Bowles, I'm the

         12  Research Director of the Center for an Urban Future,

         13  which is a non-profit policy institute based here in

         14  New York City, and we write reports and studies

         15  about a number of policy issues, particularly

         16  economic development, that affect New York City.

         17                 We have also written quite a bit

         18  about manufacturing issues and a lot about

         19  neighborhoods outside of Manhattan, like Long Island

         20  City, that is particularly impacted by this law.

         21                 I didn't prepare any written

         22  testimony and I'm still trying to learn all I can

         23  about this bill, so I will be submitting something

         24  at a later date, but I just wanted to make a few

         25  points and raise a couple of questions about this
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          2  law.

          3                 Over the years I've had a lot of

          4  questions about tax incentives in New York City, but

          5  I've always found the ICIP to be one of the programs

          6  that really seems to work. I can't tell you how many

          7  small businesses I've spoken to that really feel

          8  like the ICIP program has helped them, and for the

          9  most part, this legislation seems to make some

         10  sense.

         11                 But I'm really worried about the

         12  impact of dislocating manufacturing companies

         13  because of this legislation.

         14                 As the first speakers from the

         15  Department of Finance said, they gave an example

         16  that a building formerly used as a factory two years

         17  ago, the owner, if he wanted to renovate that

         18  property and get a commercial tenant, maybe a dot

         19  com or a telecommunications company in there, had to

         20  wait two years before they could apply for ICIP

         21  incentives to convert that building for commercial

         22  use.

         23                 There's a reason for that time lag,

         24  there's a reason for that waiting period, and that

         25  is because you don't want to encourage building
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          2  owners to displace a manufacturer on purpose, to

          3  evict that manufacturer and then convert the

          4  building to a higher, more profitable use.

          5                 That's already been happening without

          6  the ICIP program in a lot of the areas of the City,

          7  like Long Island City. With all due respect, the

          8  last speaker from the Real Estate Board had it all

          9  wrong about the City's manufacturing industry. There

         10  have been certainly a lot of job losses in that

         11  industry over the last few decades, but there are

         12  still 250,000 jobs in this industry, and industrial

         13  vacancy rates in Queens, Brooklyn and throughout the

         14  five boroughs are at the lowest level they've been

         15  at in years, if not ever. Manufacturers cannot find

         16  space.

         17                 And I know, Councilman O'Donovan,

         18  you've had hearings in this Committee on the future

         19  of manufacturing in New York City and I was here

         20  that day and I testified and several other people

         21  testified, and I know the biggest issue affecting

         22  manufacturers today is the lack of available space,

         23  a lack of affordable space in areas like Long Island

         24  City, Sunset Park, throughout Brooklyn, Queens and

         25  Staten Island, and I think that I'm really afraid
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          2  that this program is going to really facilitate more

          3  conversions and like one of the Speakers said, a

          4  manufacturer in Long Island City, this could be

          5  giving building owners tax breaks to remove

          6  manufacturers and replace them with other types of

          7  businesses, businesses that pay more in rent. And I

          8  think that would be a big mistake.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Then the

         11  question is, how would you protect them? And if you

         12  do research, as you say you do, what manufacturing

         13  jobs are growing and which ones are leaving in terms

         14  of your own studies, and so that we would look, what

         15  areas would be best impacted or best helped?

         16                 MR. BOWLES: Well, it's a complicated

         17  question I think. Like I said, there's 250,000

         18  manufacturing jobs in the City, 19,000 alone are in

         19  Long Island City today. Quite a few jobs. The areas

         20  that are growing, I think that the way to answer the

         21  question is to say that in the past there are a lot

         22  of really big manufacturing companies, like Swing

         23  Line Staples, made staples, there is really no

         24  reason for that kind of company to be in New York

         25  City, they can make that product cheaper anywhere
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          2  else in the country, or overseas. But today the

          3  manufacturers who are here are relatively small to

          4  mid-size companies, mostly under 100 employees, many

          5  or maybe most under 50 employees, they're in the

          6  food production. So many different immigrant groups

          7  have come to this city and are making food products

          8  that, you know, there's tortilla factories in

          9  Bushwick, there's all sorts of bakeries, there's

         10  other Kosher food manufacturers throughout the City,

         11  that's a thriving area. There's also, garment

         12  industry in general has lost a lot of jobs overseas,

         13  but the really high-end, quick turn-around jobs in

         14  that industry continues to thrive and has actually

         15  grown to some extent in places like Long Island City

         16  and parks of Brooklyn, like Sunset Park.

         17                 Overall, manufacturing has lost a lot

         18  of jobs, but I think the firms that are here today

         19  are the ones that are making products for the

         20  clients and businesses in Manhattan. They're the

         21  printers that are making products, they're printing

         22  books -- not books, but research reports and

         23  cardboard cutouts, display ads for the advertisers

         24  and entertainment businesses in New York City. The

         25  bakers that are in Long Island City, these huge
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          2  baking companies make goods for the catering

          3  businesses and the restaurants and the hotels in

          4  Manhattan. So, those companies can't be in Asia.

          5  Those companies can't be -- they really don't want

          6  to be in New Jersey because they have to go through

          7  the tunnel every day and face the tolls and the

          8  traffic, they need to make truck trips several times

          9  a day to their business clients in Manhattan. So,

         10  it's a variety of areas in manufacturing that are

         11  stable or growing, but they're mostly smaller

         12  companies rather than the big, huge manufacturers.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Have you ever

         14  heard of Tolan Meat Patties (phonetic), or Golden

         15  Crust? You know, the Caribbean community is the

         16  third largest immigrant community and I have never

         17  heard anybody come in and even address the fact that

         18  we eat, we wear clothes, and that we have maybe the

         19  third highest investment in the City. What is the

         20  reason that when you study, you study outside of

         21  real, where numbers are and where people are really

         22  making a contribution. So, every now and then it

         23  kind of irks me.

         24                 MR. BOWLES: Well, I have heard quite

         25  a bit about the meat patty company.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Go ahead,

          3  Ma'am. Good afternoon.

          4                 MS. ADAIR: Okay. Good afternoon. My

          5  name is Anne Adair and I'm from the New York

          6  Industrial Retention Network. NYIRN is the only

          7  non-profit, economic development organization that

          8  works to stabilize and strengthen the City's

          9  manufacturing base in all five boroughs. And I'd

         10  like to thank you for the opportunity to testify

         11  today on Intro. 862. And I'd like to start by saying

         12  we're very supportive of ICIP and the other

         13  programs, that we agree with Jonathan here that

         14  they're very successful programs for what they seek

         15  to accomplish.

         16                 NYIRN has clients throughout the

         17  City, however, that do not own their space but

         18  survive at the whim of the rental market.

         19                 For example, the rezoning of major

         20  sections of manufacturing districts, such as the

         21  current proposal in Long Island City and the

         22  piecemeal dismantling of others through zoning

         23  variances, such as in the west side of Manhattan,

         24  creates increasing pressure on manufacturers to

         25  relocate or close up shop.
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          2                 I'd like to add here that the vast

          3  majority of clients that we work with have no desire

          4  to move. They're being forced out or they're growing

          5  out of their space and they want to stay in New York

          6  City, they're not interested in going anywhere else.

          7                 Any small businesses, they're small

          8  businesses, they're not corporate conglomerates,

          9  they're not going to go overseas, they don't even

         10  want to go out of state, they live here and they

         11  work here and they have some ownership for the City.

         12                 Therefore we concerned about the

         13  intent and the effect of Intro. 862 on the

         14  manufacturing base. It appears to include two

         15  significant changes to ICIP, it eliminates the

         16  waiting period for buildings converted from

         17  industrial to commercial uses.

         18                 This provision may have the effect of

         19  encouraging the conversion of buildings to

         20  commercial use, squeezing manufacturing tenants out

         21  of their space, and they certainly don't need any

         22  more encouragement in that area.

         23                 While we appreciate the desire to

         24  stimulate more office development, particularly in

         25  areas targeted for office development, which is the
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          2  core of Long Island City, it may be that this

          3  provision should not apply to end zones where the

          4  City wants to maintain manufacturing uses

          5  presumably.

          6                 The creation of a pro rata tax

          7  abatement in certain neighborhoods is a second

          8  provision, and we're really unclear as to how this

          9  provision would work or what its effect would be on

         10  manufacturing firms. The legislation appears to pro

         11  rate the building's eligibility but not the tenants,

         12  for example. A building which is only partially

         13  manufacturing would get a share of manufacturing

         14  benefits, but the small manufacturing tenant moving

         15  into a multi-tenant building may be unable to meet

         16  the requirement that the investment is equal to a

         17  certain assessed value. Based on what I heard from

         18  the Administration here, this preservation of the

         19  percent of the manufacturing building may address

         20  this issue, it may not, it wasn't really clear. And

         21  in addition, this 25 percent threshold, I understand

         22  it's already available in the commercial incentive,

         23  the CEA areas, that was done earlier this year, and

         24  actually includes most of the end zones in this

         25  City. So, I'm not really sure what this additional
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          2  pro rata benefit is going to accomplish.

          3                 Manufacturing businesses, while they

          4  continue to be located in the manufacturing zone in

          5  theory, would increasingly become non-conforming

          6  uses and practice. The steady encroachment of

          7  commercial uses in manufacturing neighborhoods will

          8  ultimately destroy the area's viability for

          9  production activity, and this will occur for two

         10  reasons: First, the financial gains that are

         11  available to building owners that leave

         12  manufacturing space for commercial purposes are

         13  obviously and absolutely much greater.

         14                 Manufacturers were never supposed to

         15  compete so heavily with offices and retail

         16  establishments for space, but are now being forced

         17  to do so throughout the City.

         18                 This has occurred because of

         19  conversions, legal and illegal, and variances. Add

         20  on a program change at this scale and the City sends

         21  a clear message to local building owners, commercial

         22  uses are increasingly encouraged in M zones.

         23                 Second, while we at NYIRN are firm

         24  believers in the importance of mixed-use districts,

         25  a critical point always exists in which
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          2  manufacturers are no longer tolerated by newer

          3  tenants that enter manufacturing areas and are

          4  unprepared for the side effects of production

          5  activity.

          6                 These side effects include truck

          7  traffic, various smells, noise, and activity at all

          8  hours. Our clients in these "changing" neighborhoods

          9  face an increasing number of tickets, summonses and

         10  complaints, and harassment from landlords looking to

         11  appease their higher paying commercial tenants.

         12                 The result of this is an enormous

         13  expense for manufacturers who increasingly have

         14  nowhere left to go in this City.

         15                 This bill is part of a much broader

         16  question that affects the future of decent,

         17  blue-color jobs in this city. As each M zone is

         18  steadily dismantled - without a systematic public

         19  review process - hundreds of successful,

         20  family-owned businesses are gradually forced out of

         21  the City, taking well-paying, entry level jobs with

         22  them.

         23                 Ultimately, New York will suffer for

         24  this. While this legislation appears to be "business

         25  friendly", even manufacturing friendly, the
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          2  financial disincentive it eliminates could

          3  ultimately do more harm than good.

          4                 Thus, we believe that this bill

          5  should be subject to a broader analysis on the

          6  implications for land use in manufacturing zones,

          7  the proposed "commercial revitalization" areas, and

          8  mixed-use buildings in general.

          9                 We look forward to future hearings on

         10  this issue.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Okay.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Mr. Chairman,

         14  before you go, your analysis sounds good, but I

         15  would, as one who pushes for especially minority and

         16  woman-owned businesses, I would like to see written

         17  out some amendments that would protect the

         18  manufacturing area that we can have something for

         19  discussion among ourselves as members so that I can

         20  talk to the chair about here is how it could work.

         21  So, I would appreciate it very much if you would do

         22  a broader analysis on both the strength and the

         23  weaknesses of the bill before you.

         24                 MS. ADAIR: Well, I would say that

         25  essentially the amendment is not to adopt the
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          2  legislation, not to eliminate the waiting period for

          3  the conversion of a building from manufacturing the

          4  commercial.

          5                 I think like Jonathan clearly pointed

          6  out, it creates an incentive to convert the building

          7  that much quicker.

          8                 MR. BOWLES: I think that Anne and I

          9  could probably put something together for you, if

         10  you're asking for additional information to clarify

         11  the positives and negatives and what we would really

         12  encourage this Committee to do, if you'd like.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Yes, we would

         14  like to take a look at it.

         15                 MR. BOWLES: I'd be happy to do it.

         16                 MS. ADAIR: Off the top of my head I

         17  would say one of the challenges we face is that we

         18  often have manufacturing clients who relocate from

         19  Manhattan to the outer boroughs, who end up in

         20  buildings who aren't ICIP eligible, that there's a

         21  way to create ICIP on a portion of a building

         22  instead of the whole building, there may be

         23  something we could do.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: All right.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Well, thank
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          2  you very much.

          3                 Make the recommendations. Thank you.

          4                 MR. BOWLES: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON O'DONOVAN: Yes, we will

          6  eagerly await the recommendations that you have.

          7                 Now, here obviously we have, we

          8  think, we believe, a business-friendly bill, but you

          9  raised some interesting questions that folks, owners

         10  of buildings can look at this bill and seek the

         11  provisions of the bill to help them out and because

         12  they're so good, that actually convert a

         13  manufacturing building into a commercial building,

         14  because the incentives are so good to them, the

         15  owners, and we don't want to jeopardize

         16  manufacturing in the City.

         17                 So, we're going to take a close, hard

         18  look at this bill, as it relates to that. But I

         19  think overall the bill itself Citywide is a good

         20  bill, but then again, you have raised some

         21  interesting questions and we will look at that

         22  forthrightly.

         23                 So, I thank you very, very much.

         24  There are no further questions.

         25                 This hearing is adjourned.
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          2                 Thank you, Councilwoman.

          3                 (Hearing concluded at 3:00 p.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )
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          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified
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